**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

APR 13 2016

**SO SUPREME COURT**

The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Trial Judge  
The Honorable James R. Barber, III, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002386

Michael Milledge, .....Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina, .....Petitioner.

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 68331

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Did the PCR judge err in finding a new trial was warranted in this case because trial counsel failed to renew his in limine motion to suppress when the evidence was admitted at trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Respondent for trafficking crack cocaine (2007-GS-23-7445, count 1), possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime (2007-GS-23-7445, count 2), possession of ecstasy (2007-GS-23-7446), and possession with intent to distribute (PWID) cocaine (2007-GS-23-7447). (App.pp.269-70; pp.274-75; pp.278-79). Randall L. Chambers, Esquire represented Respondent.

After the State called the case to trial, Respondent was found guilty of the charges as indicted. On March 24, 2010, the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell sentenced Respondent to concurrent terms of twenty-five (25) years for trafficking crack cocaine, third offense, five (5) years for possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime, one (1) year for possession of ecstasy, second offense, and twenty-five (25) years for PWID cocaine, third offense. (App.p.170; pp.267-68; p.273; p.277).

A notice of appeal was filed at the South Carolina Court of Appeals. LaNelle C. DuRant, Esquire of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense, Division of Appellate Defense perfected the appeal. (App.pp.172-87). The Court of Appeals affirmed Respondent's convictions and sentences. State v. Milledge, Op. No. 2013-UP-273 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 19, 2013). (App.pp.219-21). The remittitur was sent on July 9, 2013.

Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on August 2, 2013 (2013-CP-23-4182). (App.pp.222-34). A hearing was held at the Greenville County Courthouse on August 28, 2014. (App.pp.240-61). Respondent was present and

represented by Brian P. Johnson, Esquire. Karen C. Ratigan, Esquire of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office represented the State. In an order filed October 28, 2014, the Honorable James R. Barber, III granted post-conviction relief and ordered a new trial. (App.pp.263-66).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985); Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC.

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR judge erred in granting a new trial in this case because Respondent did not meet his burden of proving both that trial counsel was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result.**

The PCR judge erred in ordering a new trial based on trial counsel’s failure to renew his in limine motion to suppress when the evidence was subsequently admitted during trial. This finding was error because Respondent failed to meet his burden of proving both that trial counsel’s representation was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result.

### A.

There was a suppression hearing prior to the commencement of Respondent’s trial. Trial counsel moved to suppress the narcotics (ecstasy, crack cocaine, and cocaine) and revolver that were discovered on Respondent’s person during a traffic stop. Trial counsel argued the frisk search of Respondent was unlawful because there was no reason to believe Respondent was armed and dangerous. (App.pp.19-22).

Deputy John Lanning and Deputy Patrick Swift were riding together and observed

Respondent driving a vehicle with a cracked windshield and a missing rearview mirror. (App.pp.24-25; p.30). Deputy Lanning noted Respondent's vehicle was coming from the direction of some apartments where they "had served two SWAT narcotic search warrants" two weeks earlier. (App.p.24).<sup>1</sup> Deputy Lanning testified they performed a traffic stop because of the vehicle's cracked windshield. (App.p.25; pp.31-33). Deputy Lanning testified he approached the vehicle and that Respondent was nervous, avoided making eye contact, had shaking hands, and had a cell phone in one hand and his driver's license and registration in his other hand. (App.pp.25-26; pp.35-36; p.39). Deputy Lanning testified he walked away to verify Respondent's information and Deputy Swift approached Respondent's vehicle. (App.p.26).

Deputy Swift stated Respondent was nervous and "he was attempting to make a phone call on the cell phone. His hands were shaking so badly however that he couldn't dial the right number." (App.p.42). Deputy Swift testified he asked Respondent why his hands were shaking and Respondent answered it was because he was hot. (App.p.42). Deputy Swift stated he believed this was odd because people usually shake when they are cold. (App.p.43). Deputy Swift stated he told Respondent "well, I'm hot myself but my hands are not shaking." (App.p.43). Deputy Swift testified Respondent stopped answering questions, stared straight ahead, and avoided making eye contact. (App.p.43; p.46). Deputy Swift testified Respondent's actions made him nervous, so he asked Respondent to exit the vehicle. (App.pp.43-44; pp.45-46).

---

<sup>1</sup> Deputy Swift testified "[t]he general area in and of itself is a high crime area, high drug area." (App.p.41).

Deputy Lanning testified Respondent walked towards him at the rear of the vehicle, looked straight ahead, and did not make eye contact. (App.p.27). Deputy Lanning testified he asked Respondent if he had any weapons on his person and Respondent neither looked at him nor answered the question. (App.pp.27-28; p.39). Deputy Lanning testified he performed a pat down search and felt a revolver in the right front pocket of Respondent's shorts. (App.pp.28-29). Deputy Lanning testified he handcuffed Respondent and another deputy removed a revolver<sup>2</sup> and a bag with "the pills and the crack"<sup>3</sup> from his pocket. (App.p.29).

At the conclusion of the suppression hearing, the trial judge found the search was justified and reasonable under a totality of the circumstances. The trial judge found:

[I]n the aggregate you have, first and foremost, the knowing and volitional transgression of a traffic law, which was defective equipment. Extreme nervousness, not nervousness as is customarily incident to a traffic stop but extreme nervousness to the extent that the phone couldn't be dialed. The fact that there was a phone called that being attempted at the time. The fact that it was a high drug use area, the reluctance or recalcitrance of [Respondent] to respond to any questions. And the dubiousness of the explanation for the shaking that the officer received when he asked or posed the first question. All of those things in the aggregate give me cause to believe that there was probable cause for the search.

(App.p.49).

During trial, trial counsel said he had no objection when the revolver and various narcotics were moved into evidence. (App.p.106; p.116). The jury deliberated for seven minutes before reaching a verdict that Respondent was guilty of all charges, as indicted. (App.p.160).

---

<sup>2</sup> Deputy Lanning testified at trial that the revolver was loaded. (App.p.94).

<sup>3</sup> Deputy Lanning testified at trial that the plastic bag contained two pills, two bags of suspected cocaine, and one bag of suspected cocaine base. (App.pp.97-100).

**B.**

At the post-conviction relief hearing, Respondent argued trial counsel was ineffective because he did not object when the evidence (a revolver and three types of narcotics) was entered at trial. (App.p.247; p.251). Respondent argued he would have prevailed upon appeal if the suppression issue had been preserved for review. (App.pp.253-54).

Trial counsel testified he believed the evidence should have been excluded at the suppression hearing because “it was a bad search.” Trial counsel testified the defense argument was that Respondent’s decision not to answer the officers’ questions when he was stopped for a cracked windshield and missing rearview mirror was not a “sufficient legal basis for a stop and frisk.” Trial counsel testified he believed he was able to articulate this argument at the suppression hearing and that “[he] did the best [he] could.” (App.p.256).

In granting Respondent’s application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found “trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms by failing to renew his *in limine* motion to suppress when evidence was admitted at trial.” The PCR judge found Respondent demonstrated prejudice because “the limited factors asserted by the officers as providing justification for the pat down search do not give rise to the level of reasonable and articulable suspicion required by the Fourth Amendment.” (App.p.265).

**C.**

For an applicant to be granted post-conviction relief as a result of ineffective

assistance of trial counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). “[C]ounsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)).

#### **D.**

The PCR judge erred in finding Respondent met his burden of proving both that trial counsel was deficient and that he was prejudiced as a result. See Sellers v. State, 362 S.C. 182, 188, 607 S.E.2d 82, 85 (2005) (holding an applicant must show both error and prejudice to win post-conviction relief) (citation omitted). Specifically, Respondent failed to meet his burden of proving prejudice because he cannot demonstrate that either his trial – or subsequent appeal – would have had a different result if trial counsel objected when the revolver and narcotics were moved into evidence at trial. See, e.g., Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994) (“When the defendant claims that counsel’s failure to articulate a Fourth Amendment claim was ineffective assistance,

defendant must show that such claim is meritorious and that the verdict would have been different absent the evidence that should have been excluded.”) (citation omitted).

The trial judge found the pat down (or frisk) search of Respondent was lawful and properly denied trial counsel’s motion to suppress. Deputies Lanning and Swift were justified in effecting a traffic stop because they noticed Respondent’s vehicle had both a cracked windshield and a missing rearview mirror. See State v. Banda, 371 S.C. 245, 252, 639 S.E.2d 36, 40 (2006) (“The decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.”). Once this lawful traffic stop was initiated, Deputy Lanning was then permitted to “request a driver’s license and vehicle registration, run a computer check, and issue a citation.” State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 98, 623 S.E.2d 840, 847 (Ct. App. 2005) (citation omitted). Upon observing Respondent’s demeanor (nervousness, lack of eye contact, failing to answer questions, hands shaking to the point that he could not dial his cell phone), Deputy Swift was justified in asking Respondent to exit the vehicle in order to ensure officer safety. See Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 110-11, 98 S. Ct. 330, 333 (1977) (holding that, based on “the inordinate risk” to his or her safety that an officer faces while conducting a traffic stop, the officer may order the driver and any passengers to exit the vehicle pending the completion of the stop); United States v. Sakyi, 160 F.3d 164, 168 (4th Cir. 1998) (finding traffic stops pose “a meaningful level of risk to the safety of police officers” and noting “the substantial risk to police officers during traffic stops is too plain for argument.”) (citations omitted). As Respondent exited the vehicle without making eye contact or answering Deputy Lanning’s question about whether he

was armed, Deputy Lanning had reasonable suspicion to conduct a pat down or frisk search. See Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323, 327, 129 S. Ct. 781, 784 (2009) (holding an officer may conduct a frisk search of the driver or passenger in the vehicle if the officer harbors “reasonable suspicion that the person subjected to the frisk is armed and dangerous”); Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 1883 (1968) (“The officer need not be absolutely certain that the individual is armed; the issue is whether a reasonably prudent man in the circumstances would be warranted in the belief that his safety or that of others was in danger.”).

In his ruling upon the suppression motion, the trial judge clearly considered the totality of the circumstances in determining there was reasonable suspicion to conduct the frisk search. See United States v. Branch, 537 F.3d 328, 337 (4th Cir. 2008) (“A set of factors, each of which was individually quite consistent with innocent travel, could still, taken together, produce a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity.”) (quotations omitted); see also State v. Wallace, 392 S.C. 47, 52, 707 S.E.2d 451, 453 (Ct. App. 2011) (“In applying the concept of reasonable suspicion to the various facts of a case, ‘[i]t is the entire mosaic that counts, not single tiles.’”) (quoting United States v. Whitehead, 849 F.2d 849 (4th Cir. 1988)). The trial judge listed several of the events that gave rise to the officers’ decision to have Respondent exit the vehicle and undergo a frisk search, noted he was considering these factors “in the aggregate,” and concluded the search was lawful. (App.p.49).

Respondent’s vehicle had a cracked windshield and missing rearview mirror. See State v. Banda, 371 S.C. at 252, 639 S.E.2d at 40. The vehicle was observed coming

from the direction of an apartment complex where drugs were found two weeks earlier. The area itself was known as a high crime area. See Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 124, 120 S. Ct. 673, 676 (2000) (recognizing one's presence in a high crime area is a relevant contextual consideration in a Terry analysis). Respondent did not make eye contact with the officers. Respondent was nervous and his hands were shaking to the extent that he could not properly dial his cell phone. See id. (noting "nervous, evasive behavior is a pertinent factor in determining reasonable suspicion"). Respondent stated his hands were shaking because he was hot. Respondent ceased answering the officers' questions after a comment was made about the unusual reaction of shaking hands in hot weather. Respondent did not respond when asked if he was armed. See State v. Smith, 329 S.C. 550, 557, 495 S.E.2d 798, 802 (Ct. App. 1998) (finding the officer was justified in performing a frisk search after the defendant behaved in an edgy manner and did not respond when asked whether he was armed). The totality of the circumstances led Deputies Lanning and Swift to have a reasonable suspicion Respondent was armed and posed a danger to their safety. See Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. at 24, 88 S. Ct. at 1881 ("When an officer is justified in believing that the individual whose suspicious behavior he is investigating at close range is armed and presently dangerous to the officer or to others, it would appear to be clearly unreasonable to deny the officer the power to take necessary measures to determine whether the person is in fact carrying a weapon and to neutralize the threat of physical harm.").

Accordingly, it is clear the trial judge properly denied the motion to suppress the revolver and narcotics and that an objection to their admission into evidence at trial

would have been unsuccessful. The trial judge's denial of the motion to suppress in this case was abundantly supported by the evidence and would not have been reversed on appeal. See State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010) ("On appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, this Court applies a deferential standard of review and will reverse if there is clear error."); see also State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) ("[W]e will review the trial court's ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling."). As such, Respondent cannot demonstrate he suffered prejudice – either at the trial or appellate level – from the lack of an objection when the revolver and narcotics were admitted into evidence. See Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. at 30, 448 S.E.2d at 562.

**E.**

As Respondent failed to meet his burden of proving both parts of the Strickland analysis of ineffective assistance of trial counsel on this issue, the PCR judge erred in granting post-conviction relief and ordering a new trial on these charges. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) ("The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.").

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should reverse the post-conviction relief judge's decision to grant relief to Respondent in the form of a new trial.