ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 19 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

MICHAEL MILLEDGE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002386

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

Trial facts

During pre-trial proceedings, trial counsel moved to suppress the evidence found in Respondent's possession based upon the unlawfulness of the pat down search of Respondent's person. Trial counsel properly articulated the legal test – that to justify a frisk, “a reasonable person in the officer's position must believe the frisk was necessary to preserve the officer's safety.” App. 21, lines 21-23. “Further to justify the frisk the officer must be able to specify particular facts on which he or she based his or belief that the suspect was armed and dangerous.” App. 21, line 24 – App. 22, line 1. Trial counsel argued the officers lacked reasonable and articulable suspicion because “the only reason for doing the frisk” was that Respondent seemed nervous. App. 19, line 20 – App. 22, line 7. He added that one of the officers claimed Respondent was “extremely nervous and his hands were shaking.” App. 20, line 19. Trial counsel cited State v. Fowler, 322 S.C. 263, 471 S.E.2d 706 (Ct. App. 1996) to support his position. App. 20, line 25 – App. 21, line 7. He explained that in Fowler, the Court of Appeals concluded the police lacked articulable suspicion to search him. App. 21, lines 14-17.

The prosecutor argued the search was because Respondent was stopped in a high crime area, exhibited nervousness, stopped answering questions, and gave “a million mile stare.” App. 22, lines

9-22. According to the prosecutor, this was “not a high crime area but among the highest crime areas in Greenville.” App. 24, lines 11-13. He asserted the state would argue Respondent was not only exhibiting nervousness, but was exhibiting “extreme nervousness. . . . the kind that would make any, in the Court’s words, any reasonable prudent officer have pause for concern.” App. 24, lines 13-16. Thereafter, a pre-trial hearing concerning the suppression motion commenced.

On June 27, 2007, John Lanning with the Greenville County Sheriff’s Office initiated the traffic stop of Respondent because he saw the car had a cracked windshield. He elaborated that he “had probable cause for the cracked windshield and to further investigate as part of [his] duties, to see what was going on.” He wanted to identify Respondent, “see where he was coming from and do a general information stop.” App. 24, line 23 – App. 25, line 3; App. 30, lines 9-12; App. 31, lines 9-17. He explained that whenever he stops a car in that area, there is a possibility of drug activity. App. 33, lines 10-11. Lanning described the area where the traffic stop occurred as “a lower income area of town,” where there are “[a] lot of transients.” He emphasized there were “[a] lot of apartment complexes” where he had “issues,” including serving “two SWAT narcotic search warrants two weeks prior to this incident.” Although irrelevant to the case, he elaborated that drugs were found as a result of those search warrants. Respondent was stopped between one-quarter of a mile and one-half of a mile from that area. App. 24, lines 1-16. Lanning was forced to admit,

however, that no one saw Respondent leaving “those apartments.”¹ The information about the apartments simply described the nature of the area where the stop occurred. App. 30, line 21 – App. 31, line 1.²

Lanning left his unmarked SUV to make contact with Respondent, the driver. Although no one else was in the car with Respondent, Fred Miller, another officer, approached the passenger side. Respondent gave Lanning his driver’s license and registration card. App. 25, line 15; App. 34, lines 15-18; App. 34, line 25 – App. 35, line 5; App. 41, lines 22-24. Lanning noticed Respondent was nervous during the stop. App. 25, lines 22-24; App. 36, lines 15-16. Lanning then stepped to the back of the car to “run” Respondent’s information. App. 26, lines 14-18. Although Lanning observed Respondent was nervous, he had no reason to think Respondent was armed. App. 37, lines 2-8. Lanning was frank – he had no suspicion of any kind regarding his dealings with Respondent. App. 37, lines 13-16.

While Lanning was at the rear of the car, Patrick Swift, the third officer on the scene, approached Respondent. App. 26, lines 19-21; App. 42, lines 4-8. Swift also thought Respondent appeared nervous. Swift claimed that Respondent had his cell phone in his hand and attempted to make a phone call, but was unable to do so because his hands were shaking so badly. App. 42, lines

¹Petitioner wrote that Respondent’s car “was observed coming from the direction of an apartment complex where [*sic*] drugs were found two weeks earlier.” Cert. pet. at 10; see also, BOP at 8 (“Deputy Lanning noted Respondent’s vehicle was coming from the direction of some apartments where they ‘had served two SWAT narcotic search warrants’ two weeks earlier.”). On direct examination, Lanning was asked if Respondent’s car was in the “same direction or different direction,” presumably of the apartments, and he answered, “Coming away from those apartments.” App. 24, lines 17-19. However, on cross-examination, he made clear that *no one* observed Respondent leaving the apartments and the *only* relevance of his mentioning the apartments was to explain that the area where the stop occurred was a high crime area. App. 30, line 21 – App. 31, line 1.

² Another officer present at the stop, Patrick Swift, described the area as “a high crime area, high drug area.” App. 41, lines 16-19.

9-18. Swift asked Respondent why his hands were shaking, and Respondent stated that it was because he was hot. App. 42, lines 20-22. Finding Respondent's answer "unusual," Swift told Respondent that he too was hot, but that his hands were not shaking. App. 43, lines 1-7. According to Swift, thereafter, Respondent "stared straight ahead" and refused to answer any other questions. App. 43, lines 9-17. Swift claimed he was "nervous for [his] safety" because Respondent was not making eye contact, refused to answer questions, and because of the area. App. 43, lines 18-23. As a result, Swift asked Respondent to step out of the car. App. 27, lines 1-3; App. 44, lines 1-2. There was no indication that Swift told Lanning of his interaction with Respondent at the car.

Lanning "felt that obviously Deputy Swift must have had a reason to ask him to step out." App. 27, lines 6-7. He and Swift had worked closely in the past, and if Swift "had a reason to pull [Respondent] out of the vehicle, [Lanning] felt that there was an issue" to address. He explained, "And what we would normally do would be to - - to pat him down for weapons." App. 37, lines 17-25.

Lanning noticed that when Respondent walked to the rear of the car, Respondent was not looking at Lanning or anyone in particular – "he was just kind of looking straight ahead." App. 27, lines 9-15. When Respondent arrived at the rear of the car, Lanning asked him to place his hands on the trunk. Lanning then asked if he had "any guns, knives, bazookas, anything that's going to hurt me, beat me up, make me bleed." Lanning noted that he used those terms because he was "looking for a reaction." However, Respondent did not react. He did not "even acknowledge" Lanning. He simply "continued to look straight ahead." App. 27, line 19 – App. 28, line 9. Lanning decided he "was going to pat him down for weapons." App. 28, lines 12-14. Again, Lanning was frank – *he* had "absolutely no reason to believe" that Respondent needed to be frisked; he "simply deferred to

Swift.” App. 38, lines 3-8. He searched Respondent because Swift got him out of the car – Lanning “felt that there was a reason that he had brought him out of the car.” App. 38, lines 14-24.

During the pat down, Lanning felt what he believed to be a revolver in Respondent’s front right pocket. Lanning placed Respondent in handcuffs then. Miller reached into Respondent’s pocket and pulled out a gun and drugs. App. 28, line 25 – App. 29, line 24.

The trial judge denied the motion to suppress. He explained that the issue was whether the police had “a reasonably articulable suspicion to conduct the frisk.” According to the judge, the “individual characteristics ... standing alone probably would not stand for the proposition or support that reasonably articulable suspicion that would warrant probable cause.” Nevertheless, he found that “in the aggregate,” “it was an appropriate search.” App. 47, line 14 – App. 48, line 25. He elaborated that he considered “the knowing and volitional transgression of a traffic law, which was defective equipment [cracked windshield and missing rearview mirror],” “[e]xtreme nervousness,” “[t]he fact that there was a phone call that [*sic*] being attempted at the time,” “[t]he fact that it was a high drug area, the reluctance or recalcitrance of [Respondent] to respond to any questions,” and “the dubiousness of the explanation for the shaking that the officer received when he asked or posed the first question.” App. 49, lines 6-21.

Despite having moved to suppress the evidence during the pre-trial hearing, trial counsel failed to renew his objection at the time the evidence was admitted. In fact, trial counsel informed the trial court that the evidence was being moved in “without objection.” App. 106, line 15; App. 116, line 8.

Direct appeal

On appeal, Respondent asserted the trial court erred in admitting the evidence because the officer’s frisk violated the Fourth Amendment. App. 173. The state countered that the issue “was

not preserved for appellate review because defense counsel waived his pre-trial objection to the admission of the evidence by affirmatively indicating he had no objection at the time the evidence was introduced during trial.” App. 193. In affirming Respondent’s conviction, the Court of Appeals refused to address the merits because the issue was not preserved for review. App. 220. The Court of Appeals cited State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996) for the proposition that “[a] ruling in limine is not a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. Unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling made, the issue is not preserved for review.” App. 220. Additionally, the Court cited Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) for the proposition that “[w]hen a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.” Thus, the Court of Appeals clearly held that the error was not preserved for review because trial counsel failed to renew his objection at the time the evidence was offered.

PCR hearing

Respondent testified that trial counsel was ineffective for failing “to properly preserve [his] Fourth Amendment suppression issue for appellate review by failing to renew [his] pretrial motion to suppress the evidence when the evidence was entered at trial.” App. 247, lines 3-10. He noted the Court of Appeals found this issue unpreserved because of trial counsel’s failure to renew the objection. App. 247, lines 21-24; App. 251, lines 1-18.

Trial counsel testified the “key issue” in Respondent’s case was the suppression issue. App. 255, lines 15-17. Trial counsel was surprised to learn by reading the transcript that he failed to renew his objection when the evidence was admitted. App. 256, line 21 – App. 257, line 3. According to trial counsel, “it was a bad search.” App. 256, line 2. Trial counsel recalled law

enforcement based the frisk, at least in part, on Respondent's refusal to answer questions, "which, of course, by law he doesn't have to answer any questions. He's not required to." App. 256, lines 3-6. Concerning the police officers' claims that Respondent was nervous, trial counsel said his "position was that that didn't give them a right to get him out of the car and search him." App. 256, lines 7-9. He explained there was no "sufficient legal basis for [the] frisk." App. 256, lines 12-14.

At the conclusion of the evidence, Petitioner argued that Respondent could not "demonstrate any prejudice because the stop and the search were proper." Referring the PCR judge to the brief filed by the state in the direct appeal, Petitioner argued that even if trial counsel "had made the motion as the evidence came in, this would not have been successful on appeal simply because of the weight of the case law and evidence against [Respondent]." App. 259, lines 9-20. After a brief colloquy with the PCR court, it appeared Petitioner conceded that trial counsel performed deficiently by failing to renew the objection when the evidence was admitted. However, Petitioner maintained Respondent could not demonstrate prejudice "because the stop and search would both be considered lawful." App. 259, line 21 – App. 260, line 24.

Order granting relief

Concerning deficient performance, Judge Barber relied upon McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 746 S.E.2d 41 (2013) to conclude "trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms by failing to renew his *in limine* motion to suppress when evidence was admitted at trial." App. 265. Additionally, citing State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 698 S.E.2d 203 (2010), Judge Barber found "the limited factors asserted by the officers as providing justification for the pat down search do not give rise to the level of reasonable and articulable suspicion required by the Fourth Amendment." App. 265. Thus, he concluded there was a

reasonable probability that, but for trial counsel's failure to renew the objection, the result of the proceeding would have been different." App. 265.

Discussion

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for appellate review of a PCR court's grant of relief is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the PCR court's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989); see also Terry v. State, 394 S.C. 62, 66, 714 S.E.2d 326, 328 (2011); Webb v. State, 281 S.C. 237, 238, 314 S.E.2d 839, 839 (1984)(setting forth the scope of review applicable to the grant of post-conviction relief: "'any evidence' of probative value to support the post-conviction judge's factual findings is sufficient to uphold those findings on appeal"). If any probative evidence exists to support the PCR court's decisions, the ruling *must* be upheld. Smith v. State, 369 S.C. 135, 138, 631 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2006); Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 348, 495 S.E.2d 768, 769 (1998); Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 481 S.E.2d 129 (1997). The appellate court "will uphold the findings of the PCR judge when there is any evidence of probative value to support them" and "will reverse the PCR judge's decision when it is controlled by an error of law." Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558-559, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007). The reviewing court must give great deference to the PCR court's findings of fact and conclusions of law. Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005). Also, appellate courts must consider that the PCR applicant has the burden of proving his entitlement to relief, but the standard of proof is by a preponderance of the evidence. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP.

RIGHT TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI. To prove ineffective assistance

of counsel, Respondent must establish that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced his defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997). "The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, "the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Id. "When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id. at 687-688. "[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances." Id. at 688. Concerning prejudice, "a defendant need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." Rather, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 694.

Deficient performance

In light of Petitioner's apparent concession that trial counsel performed deficiently by failing to renew his objection at the time the evidence was admitted, Respondent will touch on this issue

only briefly.³ “Representation of a criminal defendant entails certain basic duties.” *Id.* at 688. Counsel has “the overarching duty to advocate the defendant’s cause” and “a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process.” *Id.* “[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances.” *Id.* South Carolina’s preservation rules require a contemporaneous objection in order to preserve for appeal a motion *in limine*. *State v. Smith*, 337 S.C. 27, 32, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600(1999); *State v. Simpson*, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996); *State v. Schumpert*, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993); *Burke*, 393 S.C. at 55, 710 S.E.2d at 88 (Ct. App. 2011). In a case strikingly similar to Respondent’s, *McHam*, 404 S.C. at 474, 746 S.E.2d at 46, this Court held that McHam’s counsel’s “failure to renew the Fourth Amendment objection” when the drugs were actually admitted into evidence “constituted deficient performance” where the drugs were the most critical piece of evidence. *See also Gibbs v. State*, 403 S.C. 484, 493-495, 744 S.E.2d 170, 174-176 (2013)(analyzing trial counsel’s failure to object contemporaneously to the identification testimony under the prejudice prong only).

The record supports the PCR judge’s finding of deficient performance where trial counsel failed to renew his objection when the evidence was admitted in light of Petitioner’s concession at the hearing and clear South Carolina authority on this point. Trial counsel offered no reason for his failure to renew the objection and explained that he was surprised to learn he had permitted the evidence to be admitted “without objection.” He had argued the issue thoroughly during the pre-

³Although Petitioner stated the PCR judge erred in finding trial counsel was deficient *and* that such deficiency was prejudicial to Respondent, the petition for writ of certiorari and the brief of petitioner focuses exclusively on prejudice. Cert. pet. at 8; BOP at 11. Further, Petitioner appeared to concede the deficient performance prong during the PCR hearing. App. 259, line 21 – App. 260, line 24.

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